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Some History of James Baker Elworthy and his Newspapers.

Sesquicentennial:

On Saturday the 9" October 1858 Charles William Morgan and James Baker
Elworthy published the first edition of the Adelong Mining Journal and Tumut
Express on behalf of the proprietors. October 2008 will herald the sesquicentennial of
that occasion. Elworthy went on to publish the Wynyard Times (later published under
the banner of the Tumut & Adelong Times), and lastly the Gundagai Times.

The First Newspapers:

The Adelong Mining Journal and Tumut Express was one of the earliest newspapers
published in the inland districts to the south of Sydney.

The first newspaper in the colonies was the Sydney Gazette and New South Wales
Advertiser, which first appeared on the 5" March in 1803". It was primarily a vehicle
for the publication of government notices.

The next Sydney paper was the Australian, which was established on the 14" October
1824,°. The first newspaper in Tasmania appeared in 1810, while other firsts were
Fremantle in 1830, Adelaide in 1836, Melbourne in 1838, and Moreton Bay in 1846°.
The §ydney Herald (later the Sydney Morning Herald) did not start until 18" April
1831".

Other early newspapers appeared in Parramatta on 17" May 1843°, Maitland on 1
December 1841, Windsor on 17" May 1843 and Bathurst on 5 F ebruary 1848°.
The first newspaper in the southern districts was the Goulburn Herald, issued on the
1¥ July 1848. This was followed by the Border Post at Albury on the 4™ October 1856
and by the Yass Courier on the 6™ June 1857. The Adelong Mining Journal was first
issued on the 9™ October 1858, three weeks prior to the first issue of the Wagga
Wagga Express on the 30™ October 1858. The first issue of the Pastoral Times at
Deniliquin appeared on the 26" May 1859.
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The establishment of newspapers at Goulburn, Yass, and Wagga was connected to the
expansion of pastoralist pursuits into the interior and the associated development of
towns, notably along the Great Southern Road and other significant routes. The
discovery of gold in the early 1850’s was a major catalyst for further development in
these areas. This would have been particularly true for the Adelong Mining Journal,
and its successor, the Wynyard Times, neither of which could have existed at that
time, but for the discovery of gold at Adelong, Tumut and the surrounding districts.

The Adelong Mining Journal:

The original proprietors of the Adelong Mining Journal and Tumut Express were
James John Brown, Charles William Morgan, and James Baker Elworthy. Brown and
Morgan had been partners in the establishment of the Yass Courier’.

By the end of the first year of publication that was to change and was confirmed by
the following notice:

“Dissolution of Partnership — the partnership of Morgan, Elworthy & Brown, as
proprietors of the Adelong Mining Journal, is dissolved. ......Morgan, Elworthy,
Adelong, 11" October, 1859.”



In the same issue, it was noted that the paper was published every Friday morning at 8
o’clock, and forwarded by that day’s mail to all parts of the colony. Furthermore it
was stated that the paper was:

“Printed & published by Charles William Morgan, and James Baker Elworthy, sole
proprietors, at the Mining Journal printing office, Camp Street, Adelong.”*.

The paper was produced on “an antiquated hand press”, and this same press was still
in the possession of the Elworthy family in 1908°.

The Adelong Mining Journal and Tumut Express was a weekly publication of eight
pages with four columns per page, and was aimed primarily at the population of
Tumut & Adelong. It was described as a new weekly journal, to be published
simultaneously at Adelong & Tumut. Subscriptions were 7 shillings 6d per quarter if
paid in advance, or 8 shillings 6d if on credit. A single copy cost 1 shilling.
Advertisements were 4 shillings for the first inch or less of space, and 2 shillings for
each subsequent inch or part thereof.

The first edition was labelled volumel, no.1. Each subsequent edition was allocated a
sequential number. Elworthy amended the volume number each October, or
thereabouts. Volume two of the Adelong Mining Journal and Tumut Express started
with issue no.56, on the 28" October 1859.

The newspaper struggled like most in its day, and on Friday the 9" December 1859
the editorial alluded to the new management and stated:

“.having struggled through the many difficulties that surrounded us in the
management of this journal....we have made arrangements for the more efficient
carrying on of the same. Its literary department will in future be under the guidance
of a gentleman in every way calculated to do it and the public justice, and the
mechanical and other branches are so laid out that here after those errors that have
been thrust upon us by haste and an insufficient staff, will be avoided....

In addition to the above it is our intention, as soon as circumstances will allow, to
change the style of printing to a broadsheet, and to make the issue a bi-weekly
one.....Morgan, Elworthy & Co, Adelong, December 9th, 1859.”

The Adelong Mining Journal and Tumut Express was never published as a
broadsheet, and the problems in acquiring suitable labour continued. In February 1860
in a notice to subscribers it was stated that:

“Owing to the utter impossibility to obtain labour...we have no alternative but to
address each one’s paper and place them in the Adelong post office, through which
they may be obtained every Friday morning by 9 o clock.”",

It would seem that Morgan & Elworthy were questioning the viability of the Adelong
Mining Journal by the middle of 1860, and this was almost certainly as a consequence
of the “rush to the Kiandra gold fields, which carried with it the bulk of the Adelong
population™".

On the 22" June 1860, Morgan & Elworthy advertised that they would shortly
publish a newspaper on the Kiandra gold fields, to be called the Kiandra Chronicle,
and Maneroo Advertiser, further stating that a prospectus would be forthcoming in a
future edition of the Adelong Mining Journal, but in the same issue there was also an



advertisement for the Alpine Pioneer & Kiandra Advertiser, to be published at
Kiandra early in July by John & Thomas Garrett of the lllawarra Mercury'.

It would appear that the Garretts had beaten Elworthy to the punch by publishing the
first issue of the Alpine Pioneer on the 31 August 1860.

This latter publication ceased in April 1861", but by then Elworthy had committed to
Tumut.

Further evidence of Elworthy’s concerns for the business can be taken from the
following notice which appeared in the 22™ June edition:

“To printers & others - for immediate disposal, a one third share in that highly
remunerative property, the Adelong Mining Journal, weekly newspaper. The Mining
Journal has been established nearly two years, and together with the extensive
jobbing office recently added, is now in a rapidly flourishing condition. The object of
the undersigned in disposing of his interest in the above lucrative business is from
having other matters in hand requiring his immediate attention. The terms will be
found liberal. James B Elworthy, Adelong.”

Publication of the Adelong Mining Journal & Tumut Express continued into the latter
half of 1860. The final issue was on the 28" September 1860, and it was identified as
volume 2, number 104. It was in this issue that Morgan & Elworthy indicated they
were still considering a move to the Kiandra gold fields, when they advertised the
proposed Kiandra Chronicle, and Maneroo, and Tumut, and Murrumbidgee
Advertiser, which was to be “immediately published”. Despite their bravado, they
must have had second thoughts, and never made the move.

The partners separated with Morgan heading for Lambing Flat to start the Miner,
whilst Elworthy hauled his press to Tumut and started the Wynyard Times, with a new
partnership'”.

The Wynyard Times:

On the 20™ November 1860 Elworthy published the first volume of the Wynyard
Times and Tumut, Adelong, & Murrumbidgee Advertiser. The issue consisted of 6
pages with four columns per page, and was directed at a broad geographical area.
Elworthy must have considered it to be a new venture as he identified it as volume 1,
no.l1, rather than continue on from the numbering of the Adelong Mining Journal &
Tumut Express.

It is clear that Elworthy later had second thoughts on this matter when he made the
following editorial comments in the Gundagai Times of the 9™ October 1869:

"this may be reckoned the birthday of the present paper, which, as the Adelong
Mining Journal, first saw light in that township eleven years ago - on the 9th October
1858 - and which by a species of gradual development, in accordance with Darwin's
principle, afterwards became the Tumut and Adelong Times, and latterly attained its
present designation and location..."

This change of mind had fabricated itself in 1865 when on the 7" September,
Elworthy changed the volume number from V to VII, no doubt to accommodate the
two earlier volumes of the Adelong Mining Journal. Then on the 2" October (1865),
as was the yearly custom, he rolled it over to volume IX. The numbering of the issues
was not altered, flowing from one edition to the other in consecutive order. This



change had become lore by 1908 when the Gundagai Times celebrated its 50™ year of
publication, and the masthead featured in brackets “Established in 1858”"°

A notice at the foot of the last page of the first issue stated that the Wynyard Times
would be published every Tuesday & Friday at the office in Wynyard Street, Tumut.

Subscriptions were 7s.6d per quarter if paid in advance, or 8s.6d if on credit. A single
copy cost 6d. Advertisements were 4s for the first inch or less of space, and 2s for
each subsequent inch or part thereof.

It listed agents at Adelong, Gundagai (north & south), Upper Adelong, Reedy Flat,
Tumbarumba, Araluen, Braidwood, Yass, Goulburn, Wagga Wagga, Sydney,
Melbourne, Kiandra, Albury, and Tarcutta. Some of these agents may not have been
confirmed at the time of the first issue, as the list changed in subsequent issues.

It is clear that Elworthy was not the sole proprietor in this new venture as the notice
concluded with the statement:

“Printed & published for the proprietors, by James Baker Elworthy, at the Times
printing office, Wynyard Street, Tumut, NSW.”

The proprietors were in fact, James Baker Elworthy, John Isaac, Cornelius Inglis, and
Thomas Garrett.

The editorial of this first issue of the Wynyard Times included the following:

“Not withstanding the failure of a recent publication to maintain its position we have
abundant evidence to assure us that a journal worthy of general support will receive
it, and become not only a benefit to the district at large, but a remunerative
speculation to its proprietors...

.... a paper whose sole purpose will be to advance the general good...and prosperity
of the whole community.

...we have fixed the site of our publication at Tumut as the established head of the
electorate and the centre of the largest settled population....beyond this we have no
desire to localise our journal, and render it other than we propose to make it — a
thorough district paper. To carry out our design qualified correspondents have been
secured in each township...”.

Elworthy amended the name of the paper a number of times, no doubt to reflect
changing demographics in the region, and more directly a shift in the sources of
advertising dollars. The issue of the 5t April 1861 carried the title as the Wynyard
Times and Tumut, Adelong, and Gundagai Advertiser (Gundagai replacing the word
Murrumbidgee, which no doubt recognised the increasing importance of Gundagai
town).

In the edition of the 30™ August 1861, the banner now read “Wynyard Times — a bi-
weekly journal. Circulated extensively in the townships of Tumut, Adelong,
Gundagai...and the districts of Tumut, Murrumbidgee, Lachlan, and Murray.”

The paper now consisted of two pages with six columns per page, and the editorial
commented thus:

“In this issue we appear in an altered form, preparatory, we trust, to a permanent
and increased enlargement of the Wynyard Times that will enable it to rank for size
with any other journal in the southern interior...”

The response must have been somewhat slower than Elworthy envisaged as no
further changes occurred until the 1 I February in the following year when the paper



increased in size to four pages, each of five columns. The editorial of that edition
alluded to the changes as follows:

“After some vexatious but unavoidable delays we have been enabled to carry into
effect our announced intentions, and we have great pleasure in presenting to our
readers the present issue of the Wynyard Times in its new & enlarged form. We trust
the exertions we have made will be accepted by the public... ... and that in return they
will prove by their continued and increased support, that they appreciate our effort...”

On 5th November 1861, the paper advised a change of ownership, and John Isaac
gave notice that he had retired from the firm of J B Elworthy & Co, and thanked the

public for their support during his association with the Wynyard Times'®.

By the 1% April 1862 Elworthy had moved the printing office to Russell Street,
Tumut'’.

Further changes in the ownership of the Wynyard Times occurred in August 1862,
when it was announced that Thomas Garrett had withdrawn from the partnership,
leaving Elworthy and Cornelius Inglis as the two remaining proprietors'®.

Gundagai was continuing to expand as a potential newspaper market, and Elworthy
would have been well aware of this fact, as were others. Kirkpatrick' alludes to
Morgan flitting into Gundagai town around April/May 1863 proposing establishment
of a newspaper, and in August 1863 it was reported that Mr Morgan of Lambing Flats
renown had made an effort to establish a newspaper at Gundagai, but that it had failed
to eventuate due to a lack of local support™.

Further changes occurred in October 1863, when from the 8" of that month the
Wynyard Times was published every Monday & Thursday, instead of every Tuesday
& Friday, as in the past.

On the 29™ October 1863, notice was given that the partnership between Elworthy &
Cornelius Inglis had been dissolved by mutual consent on the 24™ October, and that
Elworthy was now the sole proprietor”'. The notice on page four of the same issue
confirmed this status:

"Printed & published by James Baker Elworthy, sole proprietor, at the Wynyard
Times, general printing office, Russell Street, Tumut, NSW. *

Morgan continued his exertions to establish a newspaper at Gundagai and a report in
the Wynyard Times of the 16" June 1864 advised that the first edition of the new
Gundagai paper would be published on the following Saturday.

On the 18" June 1864 the first issue of the Murrumbidgee Herald (Gundagai’s first
newspaper) was issued. Charles William Morgan was one of the proprietors, and
Thomas F de Courcy Browne was the editor™.

This was confirmed by the Border Post who noted having “received the st edition of
the Murrumbidgee Herald, which was published at North Gundagai by Messrs
Morgan & McDonald...”*. This was almost certainly Colin McDonald**, who had
already established the sixth newspaper at Lambing Flats, the Burrangong Tribune.
The latter was a daily paper first published on the 6™ April 1864, but it only lasted for
eight months™.



Kirkpatrick®® states that the Murrumbidgee Herald only survived three months, and
that the Gundagai Express filled the void by December of 1864. On the 19"
December 1864 the Wynyard Times (p3cl) published a report of a meeting at
Gundagai related to a visit by the then Attorney General. This report was an extract
from the Gundagai Express.

The Tumut & Adelong Times:

Elworthy’s paper continued to be published under the banner of the Wynyard Times
until at least 22" December 1864, but by the 29" December the title had changed to
the Tumut and Adelong Times. There should have been an issue between these two
dates, but no such copy survives, so we can’t be sure if the name change occurred a
few days earlier or not.

The editorial of the 29" December explained the changes as follows:

“The present enlargement of our paper we trust will be acceptable as proof of our
desire to meet the requirements of the district. We take this opportunity of sincerely
thanking our friends & well wishers for their support...As our title implies, we
address ourselves mainly to the residents in Tumut & Adelong, and their vicinity.
Gundagai has a local organ, which will doubtless meet with success proportionate to
its merit. The Tumut & Adelong Times does not seek to deprive others of a fair share
of public support, nor does it fear rivalry.....this office, the Wynyard Times has filled,
imperfectly it may be, but honestly, conscientiously, and under the discouragements &
difficulties inseparable from journalism, for a period of four years. We can assert
without fear of contradiction that its columns have been freely open to all...and that
in all discussions which have appeared in print fair play has been given to both
sides...”

The paper was still published on Mondays & Thursdays,
and was still four pages, each of 5 columns. No changes
had occurred in the ownership as can be seen by the usual
notice on the last page:

“Printed & published by James Baker Elworthy, sole
proprietor, Tumut & Adelong Times general printing
office, Russell Street, Tumut NSW. *

On the 27™ March 1865 the Tumut and Adelong Times
reported that the Gundagai Express had suspended
publication, there being no issue on the previous Saturday.
It did not take long for another publication to appear, which
was explained in the following extract from the Tumut and
Adelong Times®":
“An attempt has been made for the 3rd time to establish a
newspaper in Gundagai. The Murrumbidgee Herald and
the Gundagai Express, each after a short life, succumbed
to circumstances, and now the Gundagai Herald, under the
editorship of Mr Thomas F de Courcy Browne, has made
its appearance. It certainly is an improvement on its
predecessor and from Mr Browne’s well known ability we
doubt not it will find a large number of readers. We wish our contemporary success.”



A notice in June® referred to de Courcy Browne as the proprietor of the Gundagai
Herald. This same notice confirmed that P. de S. Body had had a financial interest in
the first two Gundagai publications, and it can be inferred that he was probably a
proprietor of them both?’.

The Gundagai Herald went the way of its predecessors and by April of 1866 had
reportedly folded. The report attributed the cause to:

“the position in which the plant is held, the lessee, whose interests are identified with
another district, expecting too high a rental for it...”.

Within a few days The Gundagai Herald was revived under the management and
proprietorship of Mr Costello’'. This was the same John William Costello who later
established the Burrowa Advocate in December 18692,

The Gundagai Herald was still under pressure as can be seen from the following
report of the Gundagai correspondent to the Tumut & Adelong Times:

“.. there has been a great demand for the latest publication of the Tumut & Adelong
Times.....everyone is aware and talking about the kindly manner in which you
humorously but fearlessly exposed the bungling officialism of this district last week,
...our local journal is a most unfortunate journal, it either espouses the wrong cause,
or if perchance it does battle for us, we derive no benefit there from. But I do not wish
to throw water on a drowning rat, for our present editor is a very courteous and
affable young man....it is generally understood here that our paper having proved for
the 4th time a losing spec, is on the eve of "caving in": if it does, I fear it will be a
long time ere Gundagai will again have a mouthpiece of its own. Your late partner
was the first to represent us in print, but I believe it was more in an unfriendly feeling
towards you that he did so. His principles, however, were not in accordance with
those of our town folk, and after an inglorious career he departed, with the regret of
our publicans, to whom he was a pretty good customer. Since then the management
has passed through two other hands, and is now in the 3rd, with whom I fear also it
cannot succeed. Had a properly conducted paper at first started here - if, for instance,
you had located yourself here instead of at Tumut, I could have guaranteed a little
fortune for you at the time: but these times are past, and I am sure a long period will
elapse before such another opportunity will offer...”*.

Three days later the news from the same correspondent was more precise as to the
fate of the Herald™*:

“.. it is generally understood here that at the termination of this month our
unfortunate newspaper, the Gundagai Herald, will breathe its last, but I have it from
good authority that it will not survive another week. I have also heard it spoken that
one of our late editors is endeavoring to persuade an individual possessed of a few
spare guineas to purchase the plant for him,..but this person wisely declined, seeing
no benefit to himself....attached is a list of 9 new subscribers, and I hope in a few days
to send a list of as many more again.. “

On the 23rd July the Tumut & Adelong Times reported that the Gundagai Herald had
printed its last edition. This final edition was issued on Saturday the 21% July 1866>°.
The owner of the plant was Mr Thomas Henry Corcoran, who moved to Burrowa and
established the Burrowa T elegraph36. This same printing press had been utilised to
publish four different papers — firstly at Young, then Burrowa, followed by Gundagai,
and then Burrowa again®’. It would appear that Corcoran subsequently leased the
plant to Thomas Frederick de Courcy Browne to publish a newspaper at Gulgong™®.



In the subsequent issue of the Tumut and Adelong Times the Gundagai correspondent
confirmed the closure of the Herald and appealed to Elworthy to relocate to
Gundagai. Elworthy thanked the correspondent for his support, but pointed out that
his paper was an institution at Tumut, and that he wasn’t one to cut and run from
friends for short term profit, but that he would do what he could to represent the
interests of Gundagai®’.

In July 1866 Elworthy changed the banner of his paper to the Tumut and Adelong
Times and Gundagai Advertiser™.

The paper continued without further changes to format or title until the end of
December 1867, when Elworthy announced that:

“ early in the ensuing year the issue of this paper in its present form will be
discontinued, and the Gundagai Times, and Tumut & Adelong Advertiser, a large
weekly journal , published in Gundagai, will replace it.”"*".

The last edition of the Tumut and Adelong Times on record was that of the 21st

December 1867.

The Gundagai Times

The first edition of the weekly Gundagai Times and Tumut, Adelong, and
Murrumbidgee Advertiser appeared on Saturday the 18th January 1868. It was
identified as Volume 10, No.842, and consisted of four pages each of six columns.
James Baker Elworthy was the sole proprietor.

There was a two column editorial on page 2 which included the following:

“We have not spared outlay and do not mean to spare exertion. ‘The labourer is
worthy of his hire’, and knowing that we are prepared to cater for the public, to the
best of our ability, it is surely not unreasonable to desire that the remuneration for
our efforts should be adequate and forthcoming...”

This was a theme that was commonly promoted by Elworthy in all of his publications.
An example was his notice in the Wynyard Times of the 1* October 1861 in which he
advised:

“The accounts for the past quarter will be forwarded to the various agents in the
course of the week, with whom an early settlement is respectively requested. As many
of the accounts are over 6 months standing, we have particularly to request a
settlement of such prior to the termination of this month, or we shall be compelled to
enforce payment. J. B. Elworthy & Co. Tumut...."

Walker* submits that the major source of income for newspapers of the day was
primarily from advertising, followed by subscriptions. He noted that “the art of
extracting arrears was the most necessary skill of newspaper management, and
country customers proved especially evasive.”

In an editorial on the 11™ February 1862 (Wynyard Times), Elworthy finished with the
following comments:

“Once more also, we remind our subscribers and those who advertise in our columns,
that neither editor, contributor, compositor, nor any other individual employed on our
staff resembles the Chameleon in its fabled capacity of living on air, and entreat they
will pay their subscriptions, or accounts with greater regularity, and again we assure
them that we will do all in our power to merit a continuance and increase of their
favours.”
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This entreaty must have had limited impact, as Elworthy delivered a harder hitting
notice on the 30™ November 1863:

“For the successful carrying on of any business, money, not promises, is required,
and believing in the principle of short reckonings and long friends, the undersigned
has resolved to close some long standing accounts. He regrets to find that many, not
satisfied with three or even six months', take one, two, and would if permitted, take
three or more years' credit. This is altogether unbusiness-like, and will not be
countenanced by him: therefore he gives due notice that after this year all accounts
over 6 months standing will be placed in the next District Court for recovery. J. B.
Elworthy.”

James Baker Elworthy continued to publish the Gundagai Times until his death on
Sunday the 3rd March 1889, aged 55 years old. Management of the paper then
devolved to his son Arthur who continued the publication of the Gundagai Times until
1931 when he sold out, and it was merged with the Gundagai Independent.

The Gundagai Independent:

The Gundagai Independent was founded by Paddy Sullivan, who moved to Gundagai,
along with his mother, three brothers and four sisters, in the late 1890’s, and
published the first issue on the 7" September 1898.

Paddy died on the 29" June 1931 and his wife Mary, and her eldest son, Patrick John
Sullivan, took over the publishing. Mary died 9 months later leaving young Pat and
his brother Jim to run the business™®.

Pat died in 1964, and his son, Patrick Francis Sullivan, who had joined the
Independent in 1957, continued on in the business, with his uncle Jim. When Jim died
in 1970, Patrick Francis took over the reins. He was joined by his brother John, who
assisted in the management of the paper until his death in 1993*.

The Gundagai Independent is still published today.

James Baker Elworthy:

James Baker Elworthy was born on the 9™ December 1833, and was the eldest son of
George & Emma Elworthy.

His father, George was born in England in the year 1813, and at 20 years of age
married Emma Bowcher in England, on the gt September 1833. George’s occupation
was listed as draper. In 1851 George advertised his
business in the Exeter newspaper, the Flying Post, and
described himself as “Woollen Draper, Tailor and Hatter”.
In the same advertisement he gave thanks for the
patronage he had received over the last fifteen years.
Emma gave birth to a total of eight children by 1845, but
passed away in 1854, less than a year after George had
immigrated to Australia with all eight children. It is
believed Emma’s health was such that she was unable to
make the trip to Australia.

George Elworthy
Photo from Devon to Down Under

George and some of his family arrived in Sydney on the 16™ August 1853. His
daughters Elizabeth & Eliza Grace (along with their cousins Ellen Sarah & Asenath)
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had sailed on a different vessel from which they embarked at Geelong on the 2™
August 1852, and stayed with friends. Shortly afterwards they moved to Sydney.
George was soon to commence business in Sydney, firstly in premises located in Pitt
Street, then in larger premises located on the ground floor in George Street, with three
storeys above for the family to live in.

James Baker Elworthy was educated for the Church
at the Exeter Diocesan Training College, but
eventually entered commercial life, and was for
some time engaged in commercial pursuits in
London. After arriving in Sydney, he was first
employed as a commercial traveller for the Hon.
Charles Moore. In that same year he visited
Hanging Rock gold rush, but shortly afterwards
returned to Sydney, and then proceeded to
Goulburn, where he engaged again in business.

In 1858 the Argus reporteded the robbery of the
mail coach between the first & second Breadalbane
Plains, near Yass, on the 27" July of that same year.
One of the passengers was Mr J. Elworthy of the

. 4
Joi ey Commercial Stores, Goulburn®.

Photo from Devon to Down Under

After residing at Goulburn for five years, Elworthy was made the recipient of a silver
salver as a testimonial from the citizens, before removing to Adelong to take the
management of the first newspaper established in that town (Adelong Mining
Journal). He remained there for two years, until the town became deserted for the
Snowy River gold rush. He then removed the plant to Tumut, and established the
Wynyard Times, which he successfully carried on for eight years. In 1868, after the
opening of the Gundagai Bridge, he removed to Gundagai and established the
Gundagai Times. He always took a prominent part in public movements, and was for
seventeen years a persistent advocate of railway extension to Gundagai. He was also a
strong advocate for the incorporation of the town. He was twice invited to become a
candidate for parliamentary representation of the district, but invariably declined. He
was created a Justice of the Peace in 1868, and was a member of the first Licensing
Board in the town. For seventeen years he was officially associated with the local
hospital, and for many years was president of the Literary Institute and the Jockey
Club. As a journalist and public citizen he exercised a potent influence on local public
opinion.

On the 15™ August 1855, James married Elizabeth Helvetia Watson, the only
daughter of Jonathon Miller Watson and Maria Watson, nee Hovell (sister of Captain
William Hovell the explorer), at Goulburn. They had three children — William James,
Emma Maria and Elizabeth Helena. Four months after the birth of Elizabeth Maria,
her mother passed away at Adelong on the 24™ March 1862".

His eldest son, William, was born at Adelong, but spent most of his life in Narandera
where he was an Inspector of Stock for over twenty five years. He retired in 1908, and
took a trip around the world, settling at London in the latter part of 1908, awaiting the
end of the English winter. He passed away at that place in January 1909, as a
consequence of heart disease™”.
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James remarried on the 6™ April 1865 to Henrietta Sophia Jane Large, the 3™ daughter
of Dr William Large®’. Henrietta was only 19 years old, while James was 32. They
had four children — Arthur, Ernest George, Harold Lewington and Edith Asenith.

Dr Large and his wife were well respected citizens in the southern districts and
featured prominently in the early days of Tumut, Adelong, Gundagai, Wagga Wagga,
and Cootamundra.

Like Henrietta, a number of her siblings were to have a connection with the
newspaper industry.

Her sister Marion married Henry Vale Leathem who established the Molong Express
and Western Districts Advertiser on the 1% October 1876. Henry died in July of 1879,
and Marion was to manage the paper for the next forty years, with the assistance of
her four sons’. Henry had at one time been a compositor on the Gundagai Express’'
and had been employed by James Baker Elworthy prior to his move to Molong.
Another sister (the widow of John Jenkins of Buckingong) married John Thomas
Williamson in 1878. Williamson had worked at the Wagga Wagga Advertiser, and
had founded the first evening newspaper in Wagga Wagga, the Star>>.

Her brother, Thomas Large, was a co-proprietor of the Junee Southern Cross™ .
Her younger sister, Maria Leonard, married (John) Stanley Lowe at Wagga Wagga on
the 7™ December 1877. Lowe was at one stage an editor of the Wagga Wagga
Advertiser.

Arthur Elworthy:

Arthur Elworthy was born at Tumut in January 1865
and moved to Gundagai at the age of two. He was first
of all educated at the Gundagai Public school, and then
at the Sydney Grammar School. On leaving school he
was apprenticed to the printing trade for six years. On
completion of his indentures he was taken into
partnership with his father. The partnership lasted for
six years, until the time his father passed away, at
which point Arthur took over the business. He
continued to run the paper until the latter part of 1931
when he sold up, and the Gundagai Times merged with
the Gundagai Independent.

Arthur was associated with every public movement of
Gundagai and for twenty years was secretary of the
local P & A Society. He was also a long standing
magistrate in the district. It was said that he left public

Arthur Elworthy . X
(1866-1935) life without a known enemy.

Photo from Devon to Down Under

Arthur was married at Gundagai to Leah Christian Isaac, the fifth daughter of John
Isaac — James’s former partner in the Wynyard Times.

They had a family of three sons, and two daughters — all the boys went to the front
during the First World War.
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An Entrepreneur:
James Baker Elworthy, like other successful newspaper proprietors of his day was
very much an entrepreneur.

In addition to publishing the newspaper he operated a printing office which offered its

services to the public and other businesses (printing of pamphlets, catalogues, bill
heads, receipt & cheque books, business cards, posters, etc).

From these same premises, and/or alternative premises, he sold a variety of items
including the following:

Stationery goods and books

Government publications — Acts of parliament etc

Medicinal remedies

Perfumes and other toiletries

Furniture polish

He was particularly active in promoting certain products, such as Glycerine.

He was also an auctioneer — for the sale of homes, businesses, farms, and even gold
mining claims & plants.

No doubt it was this diversity that assisted Elworthy to survive and prosper in an
industry that was renowned for its high failure rate.

The extent of his dealings can be visualised in the following graphics taken from his
various publications:
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The majority of the information on James Baker Elworthy, and his family was drawn
from the following three sources:

1. Devon to Down Under — Betty Elworthy

2. Gundagai Independent — 1** December 1932

3. Gundagai Times — 8" March 1889 (this article in turn quotes from the 1888,
Aldine Centennial History of New South Wales, by William Frederic Morrison).
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